
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

MILWAUKEE DIVISION   
 
 
 
ALBERT KATES, individually and on 
behalf of all others similarly situated, 
 
                                      Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
GENERAC POWER SYSTEMS, INC. AND 
GENERAC HOLDINGS, INC., 
 
                                      Defendant. 
 

  
 
CIVIL ACTION NO.: 
 
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT & 
JURY DEMAND 

 

 Plaintiff Albert Kates (“Plaintiff”), by and through his undersigned counsel, on behalf of 

himself and all others similarly situated, upon personal knowledge with respect to himself, and 

upon information and belief based upon, inter alia, the investigation of counsel as to all other 

matters, alleges as follows: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. Defendants Generac Power Systems, Inc. and Generac Holdings, Inc. (collectively, 

“Generac” or “Defendants”) produce power generation systems for residential, commercial, and 

industrial markets. Generac was founded in 1959 as a portable generator producer and has since 

expanded its product line. In 2019, Generac began marketing the PWRcell solar energy storage 

and backup system (“PWRcell system”). 

2. The PWRcell system is designed to be installed together with a new solar panel 

array on a residential home. The PWRcell system is linked to the solar panels and stores energy 

that they produce. Generac does not produce solar panels but has authorized a number of “dealers” 

that sell and install solar panels to include the PWRcell systems in their installations. 
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3. Among the key components of the PWRcell systems are SnapRS (Rapid Shutdown) 

inline disconnect switches (“SnapRS switches”), which are connected to each solar panel. The 

SnapRS switches are safety devices designed to immediately shut down any solar panels with 

excessive energy outputs, preventing electrical surges such as those caused by lightning strikes. 

As each solar panel gets a separate SnapRS switch, the PWRcell system is installed with as many 

switches as there are panels being installed on the home. As of April of 2023, there were three 

models of SnapRS switches: the 801, 801A, and 802. 

4. On May 4, 2021, Plaintiff contracted with Power Home Solar LLC, d/b/a Pink 

Energy (“PHS”), an authorized seller of Generac PWRcell systems, for the installation of a solar 

energy system in his home. See attached Exhibit A which is an agreement entitled “Solar Energy 

System Purchase & Installation Agreement” dated May 4, 2021 (the “PHS Contract”). The 

installation was to include a Generac 7.6 kW PWRcell. PHS clarified in the contract that it would 

not provide a warranty for the PWRcell, and the system would instead be covered by the Generac 

Manufacturer Limited Warranty. The total cost of the contract was $69,1401, including $20,000 

for the PWRcell system. 

5. In April of 2022, employees of PHS commenced the installation of the solar energy 

system at Plaintiff’s home. The solar panels were successfully installed, but the PHS employees 

informed Plaintiff that they were unable to successfully install the PWRcell system, and would 

contact employees of Generac to complete that installation. Plaintiff was unable to use the solar 

panels installed on his home prior to the arrival of the Generac employees. 

6. In August of 2022, an employee of Generac arrived and installed the PWRcell 

system, and commenced safety checks that were to be run prior to activating the system for 

 
1 The contract amount is $79,140 but Mr. Kates received a $10,000 pre-agreed upon rebate from PHS. 
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Plaintiff’s use. However, the installed system failed to pass the safety checks. The Generac 

employee informed Plaintiff that there was a defect in the system related to the connection with 

the solar panels (the “Defect”), and that the system had to remain off until the Defect could be 

fixed. The employee informed Plaintiff that he would receive further communication from Generac 

and a later visit to fix the Defect. 

7. As of June of 2023, Plaintiff has not received any further communication or visits 

from Generac employees. He has not had any use of the solar panels or PWRcell system installed 

in his home. 

8. In the intervening time since August of 2022, Plaintiff has learned that the Defect 

in the connection between the PWRcell system and the solar panels is in fact a widespread issue 

due to problems with the SnapRS switches that connect to the solar panels being defective due to 

faulty materials and/or workmanship. 

9. As a result of the Defect, Plaintiff has not had any use of the solar energy system 

in his home despite having paid almost $70,000 for it, including $20,000 alone for the Generac 

PWRcell system. Plaintiff has not received any benefit of his bargain, and also has not been able 

to power his home with cheaper and more sustainable energy as promised by Generac through its 

representative dealer, PHS. Plaintiff has also not benefitted from tax credits that he was informed 

he would receive from the state of South Carolina and the federal government for powering his 

home with solar energy. 

10. On information and belief, Plaintiff is among numerous customers who have been 

harmed as a result of the Defect, both nationwide and within the state of South Carolina. 

11. On August 1, 2022, PHS filed a complaint against Generac for knowingly 

supplying defective components, among other transgressions, entitled Power Home Solar, LLC 
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D/B/A Pink Energy v. Generac Power Systems, Inc., No. 6:22-cv-00043 (W.D. Va. Aug. 1, 2022) 

(“The PHS Complaint”). As stated in the complaint, PHS pointed out that it first brought the Defect 

to Generac’s attention as early as April of 2021, when a SnapRS switch installed for a customer in 

Ohio melted. Id. at *7-8. PHS promptly reported the issue to Generac and provided photographs 

of the defective component. Id. at *8. In a series of communications through the summer and fall 

of 2021, Generac repeatedly assured PHS that it had diagnosed and fixed the Defect in its new 

model, the SnapRS 801A model, which had been released on the market, but PHS customers 

continued to experience problems caused by the Defect. Id. at *9-16. 

12. In a letter to solar energy consumers on May 23, 2022, Generac acknowledged that 

both the SnapRS 801 and 801A models experienced the defect, and Generac would supply an 802 

model allegedly free of the Defect for replacement. Id. at *17-18. As of August of 2022, however, 

Generac had not supplied enough 802 model switches for PHS customers, and PHS customers 

continued to experience problems caused by the Defect. Id. at *18 and 24. 

13. Despite knowledge of the Defect, a Generac employee still installed the PWRcell 

system in Plaintiff’s home in August of 2022. When the system failed to pass the safety checks 

and could not activate, the Generac employee informed Plaintiff that it was defective and then left, 

leaving Plaintiff with a solar energy system that he had paid for but could not use. 

14. Despite knowing of the Defect, Generac has continued to provide defective SnapRS 

switches to Plaintiff and other solar energy customers and has continued to provide warranties that 

it knows the defective switches will not conform to.  

15. Plaintiff files this complaint on behalf of himself and numerous other solar energy 

customers for Generac’s breach of express warranty; breach of the implied warranty of 
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merchantability; breach of the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act; breach of the South Carolina Unfair 

Trade Practices Act, SC Code § 39-5-10 et seq.; negligence; and unjust enrichment. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

16. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claims under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2) 

(“CAFA”), because (a) there are 100 or more Class members, (b) at least one Class member is a 

citizen of a state that is diverse from Defendants’ citizenship, and (c) the matter in controversy 

exceeds $5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs. 

17. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state law claims pursuant 

to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a). 

18. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(1) because Defendants’ 

principal place of business is in this District. 

PARTIES 

19. Plaintiff Albert Kates is a citizen of Columbia, South Carolina. Plaintiff has 

purchased and continues to possess a defective and unusable Generac PWRcell system. 

20. Defendant Generac Power Systems, Inc. is a Wisconsin corporation with its 

principal place of business located at S45 W29290 Highway 59, Waukesha, Wisconsin 53189. 

21. Defendant Generac Holdings, Inc. is the parent company of Generac Power 

Systems, Inc. Generac Holdings, Inc. is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business 

located at S45 W29290 Highway 59, Waukesha, Wisconsin 53189. 

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS 

22. Generac produces power generation systems for residential, commercial, and 

industrial markets. In 2019, Generac entered the residential solar energy business by purchasing 

Pika Energy, Inc. Thereafter, Generac began manufacturing and marketing the PWRcell systems 
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to manage solar energy systems, store energy, and provide backup energy in the event of 

insufficient power generation from the connected solar panels. 

23. Generac advertises the PWRcell as “an intelligent energy storage system” that 

monitors and manages power generation and protects customers from power surges. The SnapRS 

switches are key components that immediately disconnect solar panels that produce such a surge. 

Each system has a separate SnapRS switch for each solar panel. 

24. Generac enters into contracts with solar energy system installers such as PHS. The 

installers purchase the PWRcell systems and install them together with solar panels to provide 

solar energy to consumers. The consumers are the intended beneficiaries of Generac’s contracts 

with the installers. 

Generac’s Knowledge and Handling of the Defect 

25. In April of 2021, PHS received a complaint from a customer in Cincinnati, Ohio 

about a lack of energy production. The PHS Complaint, supra, at *7. Upon making a service call, 

a PHS employee discovered that a SnapRS switch within the customer’s solar energy system had 

melted, causing the problem. Id. PHS immediately reported the problem to Generac and provided 

photographs of the melted switch. Id. at *8. 

26. During the summer of 2021, PHS learned that other solar energy system installers 

were experiencing the same problem with the Generac SnapRS switches, suggesting how 

widespread the problem was. Id. 

27. In August of 2021, a defective SnapRS switch caused a housefire in Lancaster, 

Kentucky. Id. On August 12, 2021, Generac and PHS participated in a conference call about the 

fire, and PHS inquired about the potential hazards associated with the SnapRS switches. Id. at *9. 

Generac disclosed that it was investigating what was causing the Defect. Id. 
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28. On August 18, 2021, another defective SnapRS switch caused a housefire in 

Lexington, South Carolina. Id. 

29. On August 19, 2021, Generac confirmed that it had discovered the cause of the 

Defect: The SnapRS switches were becoming overactive and repeatedly turning on and off, which 

was causing them to melt and bubble out. Id. at *10. Generac further stated that it was sending out 

firmware updates to fix the issue. Id. 

30. Rather than fix the issue, the firmware update replaced one problem with another, 

causing “PVRSS Lockout” system errors that permanently decreased and/or shut down customers’ 

solar energy systems. Id. at *13. The update caused a drastic increase in customer service calls and 

complaints. Id. at *14. 

31. Later in 2021, Generac began supplying the SnapRS 801A model, which it claimed 

did not have the Defect. Id. However, PWRcell systems with the 801A model switches continued 

to experience the same problems, and it quickly became clear that the 801A model switches had 

the same Defect. Id. at *15. 

32. In the spring of 2022, Generac submitted a report to the Consumer Product Safety 

Commission (“CPSC”). Id. at *17. Generac stated that it did not believe that a product recall or 

any other corrective action was necessary. Id. 

33. On May 23, 2022, Generac sent out a letter to solar energy consumers 

acknowledging that both the SnapRS 801 and 801A models suffered from the Defect. Id. Generac 

announced in the letter that it had developed a SnapRS 802 model to replace the defective models. 

Id. at *18.2 

 
2 At least one class action complaint against Generac has alleged that the SnapRS 802 model also suffers from the 
Defect. See Notice of Removal, Baltimore et al v. Generac Power Systems, Inc., No. 23-cv-772, at *3 (E.D. Wi. 
April 21, 2023). 
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34. However, Generac did not supply installers such as PHS with enough SnapRS 802 

models switches to replace all defective SnapRS switches in their customers’ systems. Id. 

35. In June of 2022, Generac acknowledged a near 50% failure rate in SnapRS 

switches. Id. 

36. Despite the acknowledgements of the Defect and unsuccessful attempts to fix it, 

Generac continued to provide defective products to solar energy consumers. Id. at *18 and 24. 

Generac Knowingly Installed and Warranted a Defective Product in Plaintiff’s Home 

37. Plaintiff contracted with PHS on May 4, 2021 for a solar energy system, including 

a Generac 7.6 kW PWRcell. See Exhibit A. According to the contract, the PWRcell system would 

be covered by the Generac Manufacturer Limited Warranty (the “Generac Warranty”). The total 

cost of the contract was $69,140, including $20,000 for the PWRcell system.3 

38. PHS installed the solar panels on Plaintiff’s home in April of 2022, and then 

contacted Generac to complete the installation with the PWRcell system. A Generac employee 

arrived at Plaintiff’s home in August of 2022 and installed the PWRcell system. 

39. As set forth above, by August of 2022, Generac was well aware of the Defect and 

had made multiple unsuccessful attempts to resolve the problem. Nevertheless, it continued to 

provide defective systems for solar energy consumers. Plaintiff was a victim of this practice. 

40. When the newly installed PWRcell system failed to pass safety checks, the Generac 

employee informed Plaintiff that the system was defective and had to remain off. The employee 

further informed Plaintiff that he would be contacted by Generac and a later visit would occur to 

fix the problem. However, no such follow-up contact or visit occurred. 

 
3 Plaintiff took out a 25-year loan at a 3.49% interest rate to pay the cost of the contract. The interest adds to his 
expenses for what has turned out to be a defective and unusable power system. See also Fn 1, supra. 
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41. Per the terms of Plaintiff’s contract with PHS, Plaintiff’s PWRcell system is 

covered by the Generac Warranty, which warrants that each component “will be free from defects 

in material and workmanship” for the following periods: 

 

42. The Generac Warranty further states that “Generac will, at its discretion, repair or 

replace any part(s) which, upon evaluation, inspection, and testing by Generac, an Independent 

Authorized Service Dealer or certified installer, is found to be defective.” 

43. The PWRcell system in Plaintiff’s home has remained defective and unusable from 

the time of installation according to Generac’s own representative, and thus the system should be 

replaced pursuant to the Generac Warranty. 

44. Despite its awareness that Plaintiff’s PWRcell system suffers from the Defect, 

Generac has refused or is unable to fix the problem, which violates the terms of the Generac 

Warranty. 

Plaintiff Has Not Received the Benefits of Purchasing a Residential Solar Energy System 

45. As the PWRcell system in Plaintiff’s home remains defective and unusable, 

Plaintiff has not benefited from his purchase of a solar energy system for his home. 
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46. Despite the hefty price, Plaintiff anticipated that he would benefit from the purchase 

in the long term via much cheaper energy bills and federal and/or state solar energy tax credits. As 

Plaintiff’s solar energy system remains unusable, Plaintiff has not experienced any such benefits 

and is unable to utilize the promised tax credits. 

47. Plaintiff receives his electricity from Dominion Energy South Carolina, Inc. 

(“Dominion Energy SC”). Dominion Energy SC offers Solar Choice and Net Energy Metering 

(“NEM”) programs that reduce electricity costs for solar energy consumers. On January 25, 2023, 

Plaintiff received an email from Dominion Energy SC stating that he would not be able to 

participate in the Solar Choice and NEM programs until his solar energy system begins producing 

energy. The email states: “As of today there has been no generation recorded for your system 

which indicates that your system is not wired correctly or there is an issue with your solar 

equipment.” See attached Exhibit B, which is a copy of the email dated January 25, 2023 from 

Dominion Energy South Carolina, Inc. to Albert Kates. 

48. As Plaintiff has not been able to activate his defective solar energy system per the 

instructions of Generac’s representative, because the system failed to pass safety checks, he is 

unable to fulfill this requirement and benefit from Dominion Energy SC’s offerings. 

49. In addition, South Carolina offers a Solar Tax Credit for as much as 25% of yearly 

solar energy costs, capped at the lesser of $3,500 or 50% of the resident’s tax liability for the year, 

for a period of up to ten (10) years. As Plaintiff is unable to use his solar energy system, he cannot 

benefit from the tax credit. 

50. Plaintiff is likewise unable to benefit from the federal solar tax credit, which is up 

to 30% for systems installed in 2022 and has no maximum amount. 
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51. All-in-all, if Plaintiff had the fully safe and functional solar energy system that he 

believed he was purchasing, his benefits in the long term would have drastically outweighed the 

cost he paid for the system. However, because Generac knowingly provided him with a defective 

product has refused or is unable to fix the problem, he is unable to reap those benefits. 

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

52. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23(a) and (b)(3) on behalf of two Classes defined as: 

The Nationwide Class is defined as:  

All persons in the United States who purchased a residential solar energy system 
including a Generac PWRcell system that contained the defective SnapRS 
switches. 

The South Carolina Subclass is defined as:  

All citizens of South Carolina who purchased a residential solar energy system 
including a Generac PWRcell system that contained the defective SnapRS 
switches. 

Excluded from the Classes are the Defendants herein, any person, firm, trust, corporation, 

officer, director, or other individual or entity in which a Defendant has a controlling interest or 

which is related to or affiliated with the Defendant, and the legal representatives, agents, affiliates, 

heirs, successors-in-interest or assigns of any such excluded party. 

53. The members of the Classes are so numerous that joinder of all members is 

impracticable. The precise number of Class members is unknown to Plaintiff at this time, but the 

names and addresses of the Class members can be ascertained from the books and records of 

Generac and/or its authorized sellers and agents. Notice can be provided to such record owners by 

a combination of published notice and first-class mail, using techniques and a form of notice 

similar to those customarily used in class actions arising under the federal securities laws. 

Case 2:23-cv-00892   Filed 07/05/23   Page 11 of 20   Document 1



 
12 

54. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the 

members of the Classes. Plaintiff has retained competent counsel experienced in class action 

litigation under the federal securities laws to further ensure such protection and intend to prosecute 

this action vigorously. 

55. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of the claims of the other members of the Classes 

because Plaintiff’s and all the Class members’ damages arise from and were caused by the same 

transgressions done by or chargeable to Defendants. Plaintiff does not have any interests 

antagonistic to, or in conflict with, the Classes. 

56. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy. Since the damages suffered by individual Class members may be 

relatively small, the expense and burden of individual litigation make it virtually impossible for 

the Class members to seek redress for the wrongful conduct alleged. Plaintiff knows of no 

difficulty that will be encountered in the management of this litigation that would preclude its 

maintenance as a class action. 

57. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Classes and 

predominate over any questions solely affecting individual members of the Classes.  Among the 

questions of law and fact common to the Classes are: 

(a) Whether the widespread failure or significant problems with the SnapRS switches 

in the PWRcell systems result from use of defective materials, workmanship, and/or design; 

(b) Whether Generac knew or had reason to know of the prevalence of such defects 

while manufacturing, marketing, and selling the PWRcell systems; 

(c) Whether consumers could reasonably have discovered the Defect prior to 

purchasing the solar energy systems; 
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(d) Whether the presence of the Defect at the time of sale and installation constitutes a 

breach of Generac’s express warranties; 

(e) Whether the presence of the Defect at the time of sale and installation constitutes a 

breach of the implied warranty of merchantability; 

(f) Whether Generac engaged in deceptive practices by marketing and selling PWRcell 

systems that it knew or had reason to know contained defective SnapRS switches; 

(g) Whether Generac was negligent in manufacturing, marketing, and selling PWRcell 

systems that contained defective SnapRS switches; 

(h) Whether Generac was unjustly enriched by manufacturing, marketing, and selling 

PWRcell systems that contained defective SnapRS switches; and 

(i) Whether Plaintiff and Class Members suffered damages as a result of the 

transgressions described herein. 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF 

COUNT I 

BREACH OF EXPRESS WARRANTY 
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Nationwide Class or, 

Alternatively, the South Carolina Subclass) 

58. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every allegation 

contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

59. As set forth above, Generac expressly warrants each component of its PWRcell 

systems as “free from defects in material and workmanship” for either ten (10) or twenty-five (25) 

years. As the defective SnapRS switches were part of the PWRcell systems from the time of 

installation, all PWRcell systems containing the defective switches have not lived up to the 

warranty. 
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60. Generac has further failed to comply with its express warranties by refusing to or 

being unable to repair or replace the defective SnapRS switches, despite knowing that Plaintiff and 

Class Members have been affected by the Defect. 

61. As the intended beneficiaries of Generac’s contracts with its authorized installers, 

Plaintiff and Class Members have privity with Generac. Additionally, Plaintiff and Class Members 

are the direct recipients of the warranties issued by Generac that cover the defective PWRcell 

systems. 

62. As a result of Generac’s breaches of its express warranties, Plaintiff and Class 

Members have suffered damages of an amount to be determined at trial, and seek all available 

remedies allowed by law. 

COUNT II 

BREACH OF THE IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY 
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Nationwide Class or, 

Alternatively, the South Carolina Subclass) 

63. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every allegation 

contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

64. Generac is a merchant who regularly engages in the manufacture, marketing, and 

distribution of residential power systems. Plaintiff and Class Members purchased the Generac 

PWRcell systems which were in that category. By operation of law, Generac impliedly warranted 

to Plaintiff and Class Members that the products were fit for their intended use. 

65. Contrary to the implied warranties, the PWRcell systems were not fit for their 

intended use due to their defective nature of their SnapRS switches. Generac knew or had reason 

to know of the defective nature of the SnapRS switches prior to issuing the implied warranties. 

66. While the defective manufacturing was present at the time the warranties were 

issued, Plaintiff and Class Members could not have discovered it at that time. At the time of 
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purchase, Plaintiff and Class Members reasonably expected the power systems to be fit for their 

intended use, and they did not receive the goods they bargained for. Had they known of the 

defective manufacturing, they would not have made the purchases. 

67. Plaintiff and Class Members used the power systems in the ordinary manner for 

which they were intended. The products were not altered, and no action by Plaintiff and Class 

Members caused nor contributed to the defects. 

68. Pursuant to the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, Generac is prohibited from 

disclaiming or limiting the implied warranty of merchantability so as to not cover the defective 

SnapRS switches. 

69. The implied warranty of merchantability is codified in South Carolina as SC Code 

§ 36-2-314, and the Fourth Circuit has further affirmed that the implied warranty may not be 

disclaimed or modified.4 

70. As a result of Generac’s breach of the implied warranty of merchantability, Plaintiff 

and Class Members suffered damages of an amount to be determined at trial. 

COUNT III 

VIOLATION OF THE MAGNUSON-MOSS WARRANTY ACT, 
15 U.S.C. § 2301, et seq. 

(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Nationwide Class) 

71. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every allegation 

contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

72. Plaintiff and Class Members are consumers within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 

2301(3). 

 
4 Carlson v. General Motors, 883 F.2d 287, 290-93 (4th Cir. 1989). 
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73. Generac is a supplier and warrantor within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. §§ 2301(4)-

(5). 

74. The defective PWRcell systems are consumer products within the meaning of 15 

U.S.C. § 2301(1). 

75. Generac’s limited warranty for PWRcell systems is a written warranty within the 

meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 2301(6). 

76. The implied warranty of merchantability is an implied warranty as defined in 15 

U.S.C. § 2301(7), as modified by § 2308 and § 2304(a). 

77. As outlined above, Generac breached both the express warranty and the implied 

warranty of merchantability. 

78. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 2310(e), Generac knew or had reason to know of the 

pervasive Defect in the warranted power systems, and has failed to cure its breach despite having 

a reasonable opportunity to do so in the length of time that such defective systems have been on 

the market. Plaintiff and Class Members are therefore entitled to proceed with this class action. 

79. Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 2310(d)(2), Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to 

recover from Defendant the aggregate expenses reasonably incurred in the commencement and 

prosecution of this action, in addition to such other relief as is deemed just and proper. 

COUNT IV 

VIOLATION OF THE SOUTH CAROLINA UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT, 
SC Code § 39-5-10 et seq. 

(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the South Carolina Subclass) 

80. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every allegation 

contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

81. Plaintiff, Class Members, and Defendants are all “[p]erson[s]” within the meaning 

of SC Code § 39-5-10(a). 
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82. The marketing, sale, and installation of the defective PWRcell systems constitute 

acts of “[t]rade” and “commerce” within the meaning of SC Code § 39-5-10(b). 

83. SC Code § 39-5-20(a) declares that “[u]nfair methods of competition and unfair or 

deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce are hereby declared unlawful.” 

84. Generac engaged in “unfair or deceptive acts or practices” by marketing, selling, 

and/or installing power systems that it knew or had reason to know were defective and unfit for 

their intended purpose at the time of installation, without disclosing the defective nature of the 

products to customers. Plaintiff and Class Members could not have reasonably learned of the 

defective nature of the products prior to making their purchases. 

85. Pursuant to SC Code § 39-5-140, “[i]f the court finds that the use or employment 

of the unfair or deceptive method, act or practice was a willful or knowing violation of Section 39-

5-20, the court shall award three times the actual damages sustained and may provide such other 

relief as it deems necessary or proper” as well as “attorney's fees and costs.” As Plaintiff and the 

South Carolina Subclass members have been damaged as a result of Generac’s unfair and deceptive 

practices set forth above, they are entitled to treble damages. 

COUNT V 

NEGLIGENCE 
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Nationwide Class or, 

Alternatively, the South Carolina Subclass) 

86. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every allegation 

contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

87. Generac owed Plaintiff and Class Members a duty of reasonable care to ensure that 

the PWRcell systems would operate as reasonably expected by consumers, including the operation 

of the SnapRS switches. 
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88. Generac breached its duty by failing to ensure that the SnapRS switches were 

manufactured with proper materials, workmanship, and/or design, and did not suffer from any 

defects. Generac also breached its duty by failing to warn consumers that the SnapRS switches 

were not free of defects. 

89. Due to Generac’s negligence in manufacturing, the SnapRS switches are prone to 

deformation and melting, resulting in loss of energy generation and other more dangerous 

consequences. In some cases, the Defect has caused serious damage to property by igniting 

housefires. 

90. In addition, Generac breached its duty by continuing to supply the defective 

SnapRS switches in PWRcell systems that were installed after they discovered the Defect. Generac 

failed to provide new SnapRS switches that were not free from the Defect for installation in the 

homes of new solar energy customers such as Plaintiff. By knowingly supplying defective switches 

to new customers, Generac placed Plaintiff and many Class Members at risk of the dangerous 

consequences of the defect. 

91. As a direct and proximate result of Generac’s negligence, and Plaintiff and Class 

Members have suffered damages of an amount to be determined at trial. 

COUNT VI 

UNJUST ENRICHMENT 
(On Behalf of Plaintiff and the Nationwide Class or, 

Alternatively, the South Carolina Subclass) 

92. Plaintiff incorporates by reference and realleges each and every allegation 

contained above, as though fully set forth herein. 

93. Generac was unjustly enriched in its sale and distribution of defective products, at 

the expense of Plaintiff and Class Members. Generac received a benefit in the form of the profits 

from the sales of the defective products, conferred on them by Plaintiff and Class Members. In the 

Case 2:23-cv-00892   Filed 07/05/23   Page 18 of 20   Document 1



 
19 

instances where Class Members did not purchase the defective products directly from Generac, 

they are still the ultimate spenders of the sales to retailers, as the end purchasers whom the retailers 

sold the products to in turn. 

94. Given the defective nature of the PWRcell systems, it would be unjust and 

inequitable for Generac to retain the benefits conferred. As the products were unfit for their 

intended use, Plaintiff and Class Members did not receive the goods they bargained for. 

95. Generac knowingly and willingly accepted and enjoyed the benefits of the sales. 

96. Plaintiff and Class Members are entitled to recover from Generac all amounts 

wrongfully collected and improperly retained by Generac, plus interest thereon. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of the Class, respectfully requests that 

this Court: 

A.  Certify this action as a class action and name Plaintiff as representative of the 

proposed Class and Subclass, and appoint Plaintiff’s counsel as Class counsel; 

B. Award Plaintiff and Class Members all compensatory, punitive, statutory and 

consequential damages, restitution, and disgorgement as authorized and 

warranted by law; 

C. Grant appropriate injunctive and/or declarative relief that: 

a. Enjoins Generac from continuing to sell and distribute PWRcell systems 

with the defective SnapRS switches; 

b. Requires Generac to recall and/or replace all defective SnapRS 

switches; and 
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c. At a minimum, requires Generac to provide curative notice to all Class 

Members regarding the existence, cause, and potential consequences of 

the Defect. 

D. Award Plaintiff and Class Members the cost of this Action, including 

reasonable legal fees and expert fees; and 

E. Grant such further and other relief as this Court may deem just and proper. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

Dated:  July 5, 2023         Respectfully submitted by: 

By: s/Mary C. Flanner   
Cross Law Firm, S.C. 
Mary C. Flanner 
WI State Bar No. 1013095  
Nola J. Hitchcock Cross  
WI State Bar No. 1015817  

845 North 11th St. 

Lawyers’ Building 

Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53233  

Tel: (414) 224-0000 

Fax: (414) 273-7055 

 
LONGMAN LAW, P.C.                                 
Howard T. Longman, Esq.  
354 Eisenhower Parkway, Suite 1800 
Livingston, New Jersey 07039 
Tel: (973) 994-2315 
Fax: (973) 994-2319 
Email: hlongman@longman.law 
Application for Admission will be filed 
 
KANTROWITZ GOLDHAMER &  
GRAIFMAN, P.C              
Gary S. Graifman, Esq 
135 Chestnut Ridge Road, Suite 200 
Montvale, NJ 07645 
Tel: (201) 391-7000 
Fax: (201) 391-1086 
Email: ggraifman@kgglaw.com 

Application for Admission will be filed 

Attorneys for Plaintiff and the Putative Class 
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